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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

MARTIN S. PARNESS,
Civil Action No. 15-3505(JLL)

Plaintiff,

v. : OPINION

CHRISTOPHERJ. CHRISTIE, et al.,

Defendants.

LINARES, District Judge:

Plaintiff, Martin Parness,filed a complaintagainstDefendantsin the SouthernDistrict of

New York on April 23, 2015. (ECF No. 1). The SouthernDistrict transferredthis matterto the

District of New Jerseyon May 20, 2015. (ECF No. 5, 6). On July 27, 2015,this Court granted

Plaintiffs applicationto proceedinformapauperis. (ECFNo. 10). At this time, theCourtmust

review the Complaint,pursuantto 28 U.S.C. § l915(e)(2)(B)to determinewhetherit shouldbe

dismissedas frivolous or malicious,for failure to statea claim uponwhich reliefmaybe granted,

or becauseit seeksmonetaryrelief from a defendantwho is immunefrom suchrelief. For the

reasonssetoutbelow,this Courtwill dismissPlaintiffscomplaintin its entiretyfor wantof subject

matterjurisdictionandfailure to statea claim for which reliefmaybe granted.
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I. BACKGROUND

The following allegationsare drawn from Plaintiffs complaint.’ Plaintiff, William

Parness,is an individual currentlyincarceratedin the EssexCountyCorrectionalFacility. (ECF

No. 1 at 13).2 His incarcerationarisesout of his “failure to pay a matrimonialjudgmentin favor

ofhis formerwife. . . RobinParness-Lipson,aswell ashis allegedfailure to takestepsthatwould

allow [Lipson] to collect thejudgmentin Israel, where [Plaintiff] andhis currentwife own real

estate.” Parness-Lipsonv. Parness,2014 WL 2533783,at *1 (N.J. App. Div. June6, 2014).

Plaintiff alleges that this judgment was fraudulently obtained by his former wife through

proceedingsin theNew JerseySuperiorCourt, EssexCounty,ChanceryDivision, Family Part, in

The allegationspresentedin this sectionof this Court’s opinionprovidea relativelybrief
summaryof the numerousclaims,accusations,andassertionscontainedin Plaintiffs complaint.
Plaintiffs complaintis approximatelytwo hundredpagesin length,andhis captionaloneis nine
pageslong. Not includingseveralthousandJohnDoe Defendants,Plaintiff names
approximately100 Defendantsincludingthe currentGovernorof New Jersey,severalSuperior
Courtjudgesin both theNew JerseyChanceryandAppellateDivisions, theChiefJusticeof the
New JerseySupremeCourt, severalstateattorneysgeneral,the former federalattorneygeneral,
the United StatesAttorney for the District ofNew Jersey,judicial law clerks,New Jerseystate
court administratorsandstaff, severallaw firms, the facility in which he is incarcerated,the
supervisoryofficials at that facility, the lawyersinvolved in his Family Partcases,the Stateof
New Jersey,andtheUnited Statesof America. (ECF No. 1 at 1-9). For eachnamed
Defendant,Plaintiff hasalsonameda fictitious spousewho he alsoallegesjoinedthe conspiracy
to aid theirmaritalproperty. (Id. at 1-67). Many of thenamedDefendantsareonly
tangentiallyrelatedto Petitioner’sclaimsandassertions,andsome,includingmanyof theJohn
Doesandfictitious spouses,arenot mentionedagainafterbeingnamedin thecomplaint.
Plaintiffs complaintis repletewith manyunsupportedassertions,conclusoryallegationswhich
do not follow from thepled facts,andaccusationswhich are, at best,of dubiousplausibility.
This Court thereforerepeatshereonly the centralandmostimportantallegationswhich are
necessaryto providea basicunderstandingof Plaintiffs claimssufficientto supportthis Court’s
dispositionof Plaintiffs complaint. Finally, this Courtnotesthatwhile Plaintiffs complaintis
filled with referencesto otherdocumentsandcitationsto an appendixPlaintiffmayhave
intendedto file with his complaint,no suchappendixor documentshavebeenfiled.

2 All pagenumbersattributedto ECF No. I representthe Clerk’s PageIDnumbers.

2



April of 2003. (ECF No. 1 at 13). Plaintiff allegesthat his former wife, her family, and her

attorneysbegata complicatedseriesof conspiraciesagainsthim ultimatelyculminatingin the loss

of certainpropertyin the 1 990sandhis eventualincarceration. (Id. at 68-69).

Plaintiff allegesthreeseparateconspiracies,all of which he claimsviolatedthe Racketeer

Influencedand CorruptOrganization(“RICO”) Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1962, specifically 18 U.S.C. §
1 962(c)-(d). (Id.). The first such conspiracyallegedly aroseout of certain frauds upon the

BankruptcyandNew JerseyFamilyPartcourtscommittedby his formerwife anda corporationto

which shewasattachedin 1995 and2003. (Id. at 68). Thesecondallegedconspiracyapparently

cameinto beingwhenhis formerwife andherfamily bribedseveralattorneys,includingPlaintiff’s

attorneys,andtwo New JerseySuperiorCourtjudgeswho heardPlaintiff’s casebetween2003 and

2012,JudgesTroianoandCasale,ultimatelyresultingin thecontemptorderunderwhich Plaintiff

remainsincarcerated. (Id. at 68-69). This secondconspiracyalsoincludesjudgesandemployees

of both the EssexCountyFamily Part Court and theNew JerseyAppellateDivision who upheld

Plaintiffs incarcerationthrough2013. The third and final conspiracyPlaintiff assertsconcerns

the allegedbriberyofNew JerseyGovernorChrisChristieby Plaintiff’s ex-wife. (Id. at 167-77).

Plaintiff assertsthat Christie, to avoid being exposedfor these alleged straw-donorbribes,

effectively conspiredwith several attorneysgeneral,severalUnited Statesattorneys,and the

ranking official in the New JerseyCourt system,including the Chief Justiceof the New Jersey

SupremeCourt, to closeanyandall judicial avenuesof relief to Plaintiff following Plaintiff’s loss

in the trial courts in 2012. (Id.). BecausePlaintiffs allegationsare not clearand are, in many

places,baseduponhis ownbaldassertionswithout anysupportingallegationsor facts,it is unclear

how distinct the secondandthird conspiraciestruly are from oneanother.
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The first allegedconspiracyarisesout of Plaintiff’s divorcein July, 1992. (Id. at 72). At

the time of Plaintiff’s divorcefrom his former wife, Robin Lipson (“Lipson”), Plaintiff agreedto

pay Lipson $2,000permonthin child supportuntil theemancipationof thecouple’stwo children,

$1,500 per month in alimony for four years, and an equitabledistribution of $40,000. (Id.).

Plaintiff also agreedto takeon $28,000in debtarisingout of themarriageand Lipson’s counsel

fees in the divorce. (Id.). At that time, Plaintiff also ownedseveralproperties,mostof which

were subjectto “underwater” mortgages. Plaintiff retainedpossessionof thesepropertiesin the

initial divorce. (Id.). Amongthosepropertieswas 1000WashingtonStreetCorporationandthe

associatedbuilding in Hoboken,New Jersey. (Id.).

Due to an apparenttenant problem, this corporation defaulted on its mortgageand

ultimately underwentChapter 11 bankruptcy. (Id. at 72-73). Becauseof the bankruptcy,

Plaintiff becameunableto pay the moneyowedLipson in the divorce. Id. Plaintiff andLipson

thereforeagreedto increasethe amount of money owed by Plaintiff to Lipson to $181,000,

allegedlynot subjectto any interest,in recompensefor his missingcertainpayments. (Id. at 73-

74). This agreementwasultimatelymemorializedin an October1994consentorder,which was

amendedin somefashionin January1995. (Id. at 74).

As Plaintiff continuedto beunableto paythemoneyowedLipson,Lipsonapparentlyfiled

a complaintwith the BankruptcyCourt handling 1000 WashingtonStreet’sbankruptcyseeking

ownershipof Plaintiff’s stock in the corporationin lieu of the moneyowedher. (Id. at 76-77).

Plaintiff allegesthat thesefilings representeda fraudon thecourt in so muchasLipsonstatedthat

shehad “no moremoneyand. . . no family” to help her take careof her childrenwere shenot

awardedPlaintiff’s shares. (Id. at 76-78). Plaintiff allegesthat Lipsonnot only hasa well to do
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brotherwho could help her, but usedseveralthousanddollars in child supportto buy a housein

Westfield,New Jersey. (Id.). Plaintiff allegesthat Lipsonusedthis fraud on thecourt to obtain

control of 1000Washingtonstreet,andusedthis control to conspirewith 1000WashingtonStreet

and an unknown corporationownedby Lipson to embezzlerents from 1000 WashingtonStreet

overthe next severalyears. (Id. at 78-88). This “conspiracy”betweenLipson andtheunknown

corporation forms the basis for Plaintiffs first alleged conspiracy. Plaintiff also allegesthat

Lipson’s filing of a complaintseekinga judgmentagainstPlaintiff in the amountof $341,500in

the EssexCountyFamily Part in 2003 representsa further fraud on the court andpredicateact in

supportof his first allegedRICO conspiracy. (Id. at 89-90). While this first conspiracywas

ongoing, Plaintiff emigratedto Israel in 1995 and ultimately becamean Israeli citizen and

remarried. (Id, at 85).

In April 2003,Lipson filed an actionin the SuperiorCourt of New Jersey,EssexCounty,

ChanceryDivision — Family Part seeking$341,500which she assertedPlaintiff owed her in

alimony, child support,andoutstandingdebtfrom herdivorcewith Plaintiff. (Id. at 91). Lipson

also soughtan arrestwarrantfor Plaintiff ashe was apparentlyin contemptof the earlierdivorce

judgments. (Id.). This matter came before Superior Court Judge JamesTroiano. (Id.).

AlthoughPlaintiffallegesthathewasneverproperlyservedin this actionandLipsononly obtained

this judgment, including the arrestwarrant, througha fraud perpetratedon the SuperiorCourt,

JudgeTroiano ultimately granted Lipson’s requestand entereda judgment in her favor for

$341,500and issuedan arrestwarrant in Plaintiffs namefor civil contempt. (Id. at 91-93).

BecauseParnessresidedin Israelat thatpoint, anddespiteeffortsby Lipson to havehim arrested

sooner,thejudgmentandorderwerenot enforcedagainstPlaintiff until 2009. (Id. at 91-95).
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On April 17, 2009, while vacationingin New Jerseywith his new wife, Plaintiff was

stoppedby the Ridgefieldpolice for a minor traffic violation. (Id. at 94). While stopped,the

police discoveredthe outstandingwarrantfor Plaintiffs arrestarisingout of the 2003 judgment.

(Id.). Plaintiff wasthereforearrestedandincarceratedat theEssexCountyCorrectionalFacility.

(Id. at 94-95). Following his arrest,Plaintiff was apparentlyarraignedbeforeJudgeTroiano on

or aboutApril 21, 2009,andlitigation of the2003judgmentandPlaintiffs civil contemptwarrant

beganbeforeTroiano. (Id. at 95). Plaintiffs secondallegedRICO conspiracyarisesout of this

litigation. Plaintiff allegesthat this secondconspiracyfirst arosebetweenthe two lawyerswho

representedhim in front of Troiano, JamesFriedmanand JonathanRubenstein,who allegedly

conspiredwith Lipson andher lawyerin the 2009litigation to sabotagePlaintiffs caseandgouge

him throughthe chargingof excessivelegal fees. (Id. at 95-99). Plaintiff allegesthat, through

Friedmanwho was apparentlya friend of JudgeTroiano, Lipson and the lawyersconspiredand

ultimatelybribedTroianoto hamperPlaintiffs caseandkeephim incarcerated. (Id.). Plaintiff

thusallegesthatTroianoaccepteda $5,000bribewhich wasgivento Troianoby either“Friedman

or [Lipson’s counsel)soonafter the April 21, 2009 hearing.” (Id. at 99). This bribe also was

apparentlyto includea portionof anymoneysrecoveredfrom Plaintiff.3 (Id.).

Plaintiff allegesthat Lipson, the lawyers,andJudgeTroiano thereafterimpededhis case

Plaintiff, in supportof his allegationthata bribewasmadeto Troiano, allegesthatJudge
Troianoultimatelyresignedfrom thebenchbecauseofPlaintiffs briberyclaims. (ECF No. I at
159-60). This assertion,however,is directly contradictedby readilyavailablepublic records.
This Court takesjudicial noticethatJudgeTroianoactuallyretired,but is currentlyservingon
theEssexCountybenchpursuantto a recall order. SeeRecallOrder,availableat
http://www.judiciary.state.nj.us/notices/2014/ni40925b.pdf.
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and engagedin ‘perjury, attemptedextortion,kidnapping,extortion,perjury, and othercriminal

acts” without further elaborationas to thesespecific allegedpredicateacts. (Id. at 101-02).

Plaintiff does,however,allegethat Lipson engagedin further fraudson the court by selectively

filing documentsin the 2009 action and allegedly admitting to lying and defrauding the

Bankruptcycourt. (Id. at 102-03). Plaintiff further claims that his lawyer refusedto properly

supporthis claims in court andtold him that therewas “nothing there” to supporthis allegations

that Lipson embezzledfunds in the 1 990s. (Id. at 104-05). Plaintiff also allegesthat counsel

refusedto fight the Troiano Court’s conclusionthat becausePlaintiff was properly servedin

Family Court proceedingsin 1995,that servicecarriedover to the2003hearing,andthat Plaintiff

wasthusproperlyservedin regardsto thathearing. (Id. at 104).

Plaintiff thereafterrecountsnumerousencountersbetweenhimselfandhis lawyersin the

2009 matter in which he disagreedwith their decisionsregardinghis case. (Id. at 105-132).

Plaintiff allegesthat many of theseactions, including refusing to submit Plaintiff’s proposed

documentsto the court, interactionswith potentialwitnesses,and counsel’sdecisionsas to what

evidenceto presentto JudgeTroiano amountedto either fraud or someotherunclearlydefined

form of racketeeringbehavior. (Id.). Plaintiff further allegesthat his hearingsbefore Judge

Troiano in May 2010wereessentiallyshamproceedingsdesignedto createa recordwhich would

appearto be thoroughto the AppellateDivision without actuallyaddressingPlaintiff’s concerns.

(Id. at 123-25). Plaintiff also claimsthat his rights wereviolatedduring the family part hearing

becausehe was shackledand restrainedwhile presentbeforeTroiano. (Id. at 124). Petitioner

allegesthat counsel’sfailings in thesehearingsultimately resultedin a “fraudulentjudgmentof

over $600,000”andPetitioner’s“illegal” incarcerationfor somesix years.
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After the entry of judgment,Plaintiff appealedJudgeTroiano’s order.4 (Id. at 145-46).

Plaintiff allegesthat, whenthe appealwas filed “JudgeTroiano enlistedthe assistanceof Judge

Fuentesof the Appellate Division, a close colleagueof JudgeTroiano, to requestfrom Ariel

Rodriguez, [then) Acting Administrative Judge of the Appellate Division, [that Fuentes] be

assigned”Plaintiff’s appeal. (Id. at 146). Plaintiff allegesthat JudgesFuentesand Rodriguez

thereafter enlisted Judge Harris to aid them in disposing of his appeal, which the judges

accomplishedby denying his motions (including motions to proceedas an indigent and for

transcriptsat the public expense)before the Appellate Division. (Id.at 151-53). Plaintiff

contendsthateachof thesemotiondenialswasanexampleof mail or wire fraud. (Id. at 152-53).

His motions having been denied, Plaintiff’s appeal was ultimately dismissed. (Id.). This

dismissalalso apparentlyinvolved the Clerk of the Appellate Division, JosephOrlando, who

Plaintiff allegeswas brought into the conspiracyby the AppellateDivision judges. (Id. at 153-

54).

Plaintiff thenapparentlyfiled a petitionfor certificationto theNew JerseySupremeCourt.

(Id. at 154). Plaintiff allegesthaton December6, 2012,the SupremeCourt remandedthematter

to theChanceryDivision, FamilyPartsolelyfor ahearing“in accordancewith Marshallv. Matthei,

[744 A.2d 209 (N.J. App. Div. 2000) (requiringperiodicevidentiaryhearingsto determineif the

“circumstancesof apersonincarceratedundera civil contemptorderhavechangedsufficiently to

warranthis release).” (Id. at 157-58). Priorto this remand,however,Plaintiffallegesthatseveral

‘ Plaintiff alsoattemptedto belatedlyappealtheentryof a restrainingorderpreventingPlaintiff
from contactingtheHort Defendantsbecauseof a letterhehadsentthemwhich JudgeTroiano
deemedthreatening. (Id. at 130-146).
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New JerseySupremeCourt employeesspontaneouslyjoined the conspiracyagainstPlaintiff by

“sabotaging”his appealby delayingthe considerationof someof his motionsbeforethe Supreme

Court. (Id, at 158-59). The New JerseySupremeCourt ultimately denied the petition for

certificationas to Plaintiff’s appealon March28, 2013. SeeParness-Lipson,2014WL 2533783

at *1.

After theremandorder,Plaintiff “prepared”andfiled “pleadings”whichtheSuperiorCourt

construedas a motion and forwardedto JudgeKessler’s chambers. (ECF No. 1 at 159-61).

Becauseof defectsassociatedwith Plaintiff’s lack of andeventualattemptat paymentof the filing

fee for a motion in the SuperiorCourt, Plaintiffs “pleadings”werereturnedto him severaltimes

with instructionson how to properlyfile them,by bothmembersof the SuperiorCourt’s clerk’s

office andmembersof JudgeKessler’schambers. (Id.). Plaintiff allegesthat, by returninghis

check,the court clerks,JudgeKessler,andKessler’slaw clerk delayedhis Mattheihearingand in

doing so joined the alleged RICO conspiracies. (Id.). Plaintiff finally complied with the

requirementsfor the filing in May 2013, at which point his casewas assignedto SuperiorCourt

JudgeMichael Casaleas JudgeTroiano had retired. (Id. at 163). Plaintiff allegesthat Casale

cameto a meetingof the minds with Troiano and thusjoined the conspiracy. (Id. at 163-64).

Plaintiff also allegesthat Casalewasbribedby Lipson. (Id. at 164). Plaintiff thenassertsthat,

as part of the conspiracy,Casaledeniedhim a fair evidentiaryhearingon theMatthei remand.5

TheAppellateDivision describedthathearingas follows in its opinionon Plaintiffs appeal
therefrom: thehearings“largely consistedof verbalsparringbetweentheassignedjudgeand
[Plaintiff], with [Plaintiff] insistingthat theprior judgmentwastheproductof a conspiracy
betweenhis attorney,thecourt, andvirtually anyoneelseassociatedwith thecase,andthejudge
trying to impresson defendantthathis argumentswerebesidethepoint [as thejudgmentwas
final].” Parness-Lipson,2014WL 2533783at 2.
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(Jd, at 164-65). On appealfrom that hearing,the AppellateDivision remandedthe matter for

anotherMatthei hearing at which Plaintiff would be entitled to appointedcounsel. Parness

Lipson, 2014WL 2533783at -3. AlthoughPlaintiff apparentlyoriginally intendedto appealthat

decisionby the AppellateDivision, he ultimately decidedagainstit and a decisionon this new

remandis still pendingasof the filing of Plaintiff’s complaint. (ECF No. 1 at 177-78).

The Third andfinal RICO conspiracyPlaintiff allegesarisesout of his claimsthat certain

public officials, including GovernorChris Christie and Chief JusticeStuartRabnerof the New

Jersey SupremeCourt, have acted to constrain Plaintiff’s ability to contest his continued

imprisonment. Plaintiff allegesthat he believesthat, during a fundraiser,the Lipsons and their

friends the Holts madedonationsto Christie in exchangefor Christiepressuringthe New Jersey

Court system to continue Plaintiff’s incarceration. (Id. at 168-69). Plaintiff’s assertsthat

Christieeffectivelymaintainsnearlyabsoluteauthorityover theNew Jerseylegal systemthrough

his appointmentandoversightof severalNew Jerseyattorneysgeneral,severalNew Jerseyjudges,

the Public Defender,and the New JerseyOffice of Attorney Ethics. (Id.). Plaintiff also asserts

that Christieusedhis contactsto createa conspiracyin which his “friends” in the FBI, theUnited

StatesAttorney’sOffice for theDistrict ofNew Jersey,the federalAttorneyGeneral’sOffice, the

New JerseySupremeCourt, and the EssexCountyCorrectionalFacility to preventPlaintiff from

makingclaimsandcurtail any investigationinto Plaintiff’s claims. (Id. at 168-77).
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II. DISCUSSION

A. Legal Standard

Perthe PrisonLitigation ReformAct, Pub.L. No. 104-134,§ 801-810,110 Stat. 1321-

66 to 1321-77(April 26, 1996) (“PLRA”), district courtsmustreview complaintsin thosecivil

actionsin which theplaintiff is proceedingin formapauperis,see28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B).

The PLRA directsdistrict courtsto suaspontedismissanyclaim that is frivolous, is malicious,

fails to statea claim uponwhich reliefmaybegranted,or seeksmonetaryrelief from a defendant

who is immunefrom suchrelief. This actionis subjectto suaspontescreeningfor dismissal

under28 U.S.C.§ 1915(e)(2)(B)asPlaintiff is proceedinginformapauperis.

Accordingto the SupremeCourt’sdecisionin Ashcrofl v. Iqbal, “a pleadingthatoffers

‘labels or conclusions’or ‘a formulaic recitationof the elementsof a causeof actionwill not

do.” 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)(quotingBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555

(2007)). To survivesuaspontescreeningfor failure to statea claim,6the complaintmustallege

“sufficient factualmatter” to showthat theclaim is facially plausible. Fowlerv. UPMS

Shadyside,578 F.3d203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009) (citationomitted). “A claim hasfacial plausibility

whenthe plaintiff pleadsfactualcontentthat allows the court to draw the reasonableinference

that the defendantis liable for themisconductalleged.” Fair Wind Sailing, Inc. v. Dempster,

764 F.3d 303, 308 n. 3 (3d Cir. 2014) (quotingIqbal, 556 U.S. at 678). Moreover,whilepro se

6 “The legal standardfor dismissinga complaintfor failure to statea claim pursuantto 28
U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B)(ii)is thesameasthat for dismissinga complaintpursuantto Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure12(b)(6).” Schreanev. Seana,506 F. App’x 120, 122 (3d Cir. 2012)
(citing Allah v. Seiverling,229 F.3d220, 223 (3d Cir. 2000));Mitchell v. Beard,492 F. App’x
230, 232 (3d Cir. 2012) (discussing28 U.S.C. § 1997e(c)(1));Courteauv. UnitedStates,287 F.
App’x 159, 162 (3d Cir. 2008) (discussing28 U.S.C. § 19l5A(b)).
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pleadingsareliberally construed,‘pro se litigants still mustallegesufficient facts in their

complaintsto supporta claim.” Mala v. CrownBay Marina, Inc., 704 F.3d239, 245 (3d Cir.

2013) (citation omitted) (emphasisadded).

B. Plaintiff’s RICO Claims

Plaintiff first assertscivil claims against Defendantsfor violations of the Racketeer

InfluencedandCorruptOrganization(“RICO”) Act. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)“makesit unlawful ‘for

any personemployedby or associatedwith any enterpriseengagedin, or the activitiesof which

affect, interstateor foreign commerce,to conductor participate,directly or indirectly, in the

conduct of such enterprise’saffairs through a pattern of racketeeringactivity.” In re Ins.

BrokerageAntitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 362 (3d Cir. 2010) (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)).

Section 1962(d) expandsliability under the statuteby making it “unlawful for any personto

conspireto violate [18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)]”. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). “The RICO statuteprovides

for civil damagesfor anypersoninjured in his businessor propertyby reasonof a violation of [
1962].” Amos v. Franklin Fin. Servs. Corp., 509 F. App’x 165, 167 (2013) (quoting Tabasv.

Tabas,47 F.3d 1280, 1289 (3d Cir. 1995)).

A violation of the statute

requires(1) conduct(2) of an enterprise(3) througha pattern(4) of
racketeeringactivity. The plaintiff must,of course,allegeeachof
these elementsto state a claim. Conducting an enterprisethat
affectsinterstatecommerceis obviouslynot in itselfa violation of §
1962, nor is the mere commissionof the predicateoffenses. In
addition, the plaintiff only hasstandingif, and canonly recoverto
theextentthat,hehasbeeninjuredin hisbusinessor propertyby the
conductconstitutingtheviolation.
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Id. The injury to businessor propertyelementrequires“proof of a concretefinancial lossandnot

mereinjury to a valuableintangiblepropertyinterest.” Maio v. Aetna, Inc., 221 F.3d 472, 483

(3d Cir. 2000)(quotingSteelev. Hosp. Corp. ofAm., 36 F.3d69, 70 (9th Cir. 1994)). A complaint

therefore must contain allegations “of actual monetary loss, i.e., an out-of-pocket loss” to

adequatelypleadthe injury element. Id. Physicalor emotionalharmto a personis insufficient

to show that a person was injured in his businessor property under the act. Magnum v.

Archdioceseof Philadelphia,253 F. App’x 224, 227 (3d Cir. 2007). “Similarly, losseswhich

flow from personalinjuries arenot [damageto] propertyunderRICO.” Id. (internal quotations

omitted). Lossesderivedfrom a Plaintiff’s falseimprisonmentarederivativeof apersonalinjury,

andthereforecannotconstitutea RICO injury. SeeMagnumv. ArchdioceseofPhiladelphia,No.

06-2589,2006 WL 3359642,at *4 (E.D. Pa.Nov. 17, 2006),aff’d, 236 F. App’x 224 (2007);see

alsoEvansv. City of Chicago,434 F.3d 916, 926-27 (7th Cir. 2006), overruledin parton other

grounds,Hill v. Tangherlini,724 F.3d 965, 967 n.1 (7th Cir. 2013).

As to the injury suffered,a civil RICO plaintiff is alsorequiredto pleadcausation. “[T]o

statea claim undercivil RICO, theplaintiff is requiredto showthata RICOpredicateoffense“not

only was a but for’ causeof his injury, but wastheproximatecauseaswell.” Hemi Group,LLC

v. City ofNew York, 559 U.S. 1, 9 (2010). “Proximatecausefor RICO purposes.. . shouldbe

evaluatedin light of its common-lawfoundations;proximatecausethus requires ‘some direct

relationbetweenthe injury assertedandthe injurious conductalleged.” Id. (quotingHolmesv.

Sec. InvestorProt. Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268 (1992). Wherethe link betweentheRICO actsand

the allegedinjury is too remote,purelycontingent,or indirect, that link is insufficient to establish

proximatecause.
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A plaintiff establishesa patternof racketeeringactivity “by showingthat the defendants

engagedin at leasttwo predicateactswithin tenyearsof eachother.” Amos,509F. App’x at 168.

Includedamongpotentialpredicateactsare“federalmail fraudunder18 U.S.C. § 1341 or federal

wire fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1343.” Id. “[M]ail or wire fraud consistsof: ‘(1) a schemeto

defraud;(2) useof the mails [or wires] to further that scheme;and (3) fraudulentintent.” Id.

(quoting United Statesv. Pharis,298 F.3d 228, 234 (3d Cir. 2002)). Predicateacts underthe

statutealso include “any act or threat involving. . . kidnapping, . . . bribery[ or] extortion

which is chargeableunderStatelaw andpunishableby imprisonmentfor morethanoneyear” as

well asthebriberyof public officials under18 U.S.C. § 201. See18 U.S.C. § 1961(1). In order

to be liable under the statute,eachdefendantmusthaveparticipatedin “two or morepredicate

offensessufficient to constitutea pattern.” Amos, 509 F. App’x at 168 (quotingBanksv. Wolk,

918 F.2d 418, 421 (3d Cir. 1990)).

Wherethe allegedpredicateactsassertedincludefraud claims,suchasmail or wire fraud,

a plaintiff mustmeetthe heightenedpleadingrequirementsof Rule 9(b) in orderto statea claim

for relief. CareOne,LLC v. Burns,Civil Action No. 10-2309,2011 WL 2623503,at *8 (D.N.J.

June28, 2011);seealso Wadenv. Mcelland,288 F.3d 105, 114 (3d Cir. 2002). UnderRule9(b),

“a party must statewith particularitythe circumstancesconstitutingfraud or mistake.” Fed. R.

Civ. P. 9(b). In orderto satisfythis pleadingrequirement,a plaintiff must“identify[] thepurpose

of the [mailing or use of wires] within the defendant’sfraudulent schemeand specify[] the

fraudulentstatement,the time, place,and speakerand contentof the allegedmisrepresentation.”

Burns,2011 WL 2623503at *8 (quotingAnnulli v. Panikkar,200 F.3d 189, 200 n. 10 (3d Cir.

1999),overruledon othergroundsby Rotellav. Wood,528U.S. 549(2000)). A plaintiff asserting
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a fraud claim mustthereforeallegethe “who, what, when,andwheredetailsof theallegedfraud”

in orderto meettherequirementsof therule. District 1199PHealthandWefarePlanv. Janssen,

L.P., 784 F. Supp.2d 508, 527 (D.N.J. 2011). “The purposeof Rule 9(b) is to providenoticeof

the precisemisconductwith which defendantsarecharged’ in orderto give them an opportunity

to respondmeaningfullyto the complaint, ‘and to preventfalseor unsubstantiatedcharges.” Id.

(quotingRob v. City of InvestingCo. Liquidating Trust, 155 F.3d 644, 658 (3d Cir. 1998)). A

plaintiff therefore“must statethe circumstancesof the allegedfraud with sufficientparticularity

to placethe defendanton noticeof theprecisemisconductwith which [it is] charged.” Frederico

v. HomeDepot,507 F.3d 188,200 (3d Cir. 2007)(quotingLum v. BankofAm., 361 F.3d217,223-

24 (3d Cir. 2004), abrogatedin part on othergroundsby Bell Ati. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.s.

544, 557 (2007)).

RICO claimsaresubjectto a four yearstatuteof limitations. See,e.g., Mathewsv. Kidder,

Peabody,& Co., 260 F.3d 239, 244-45(3d Cir. 2001). A plaintiff’s RICO claim “accrueswhen

‘plaintiffs knew or shouldhaveknown of their injury.” Id. at 250 (quotingForbesv. Eagleson,

228 F.3d 471, 484 (3d Cir. 2000)). The accrualinquiry “is both subjectiveand objective. The

subjectivecomponentneedslittle explanation— a claim accruesno later thanwhentheplaintiffs

themselvesdiscovertheir injuries.” Id. at 250. Undertheobjectivefacetof the inquiry, accrual

of theclaim occurswhenplaintiffs shouldhaveknownof their injury andthesourceof the injury.

PrudentialIns. C’o. ofAm. V. US. GypsumCo., 359 F.3d226,233 (3d Cir. 2004).

Plaintiff pleadsthree separatealleged RICO conspiracies. The first such conspiracy

Plaintiff pleadsconcernsthe actionsof his ex-wife in enforcingand amendingtheir judgmentof

divorceandallegedfraudsupontheBankruptcyCourt in 1995 andtheNew JerseySuperiorCourt
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in 2003. As pled, however, it is clear that Plaintiff certainly knew of the injury he allegedly

sufferedas a resultof this purportedconspiracy— the lossof his formerbuilding in Hoboken,as

well as his ex-wife’s involvementin that lossby the time he was arrestedin 2009. As Plaintiff

was awareof both the allegedloss and the perpetratorof that loss in 2009, and did not bring the

currentsuit until April of 2015,morethanfour yearspassedbetweenthe latestpossibleaccrualof

Plaintiffs claim as to the first conspiracyin 2009 and the filing of the complaint,andPlaintiffs

first RICO claim is thusbarredby the four yearstatuteof limitations. Mathews,260 F.3dat 244-

45, 250-51. This Courtwill thereforedismissPlaintiffs first RICO claim astime barred.

Plaintiffs remainingRICO conspiracyallegationsariseout of his arrestfor contemptof

court andcontinuedimprisonmentthereafter. Plaintiff allegesthat his wife, counsel,thejudges

hearinghis casein the SuperiorCourt, the AppellateDivision judgeswho heardhis appeal,and

numerousstate officials all conspired,through an alleged RICO enterprise,to keep Plaintiff

“illegally” incarceratedon the contemptcharges. While Plaintiff’s allegationsas to thesetwo

allegedRICO conspiraciespresentnumerouspotentialpleadingissues,7theseRICO claimssuffer

from onecleardefectwhich preventsthemfrom statinga claim that this Courthasjurisdiction to

‘ To theextentthatcertainallegedRICO defendants,suchasthe AppellateDivision judges,are
addedasDefendantspursuantto claimsof fraud, Plaintiff hasnot pledthe “who, what,when,
andwheredetailsof the allegedfraud” with sufficient specificityto meettherequirementsof
Rule 9(b) ashehasnot clearly identifiedwhatportionsof therulings, letters,andother
documentshesuggestswerefraudulentwereuntrueor otherwisefraudulent. SeeDistrict 1 199P
HealthandWelfarePlan,784 F. Supp.2d at 527. Likewise,manyof Plaintiffs allegationsof
“kidnapping,” bribery,or violationsof theTravel Act areno morethanbaseallegationswithout
supportingfactswhich areinsufficient to adequatelyallegepredicateRICO acts. SeeIqbal, 556
U.S. at 678. This Court likewisewarnsPlaintiff that if it becomesapparentthathe is awarethat
his allegations,which appearunlikely, if not implausible,arewithout any evidentiarysupportor
arenot likely to receiveevidentiarysupportthrougha reasonableperiodof discovery,hemaybe
subjectto sanctionpursuantto FederalRuleof Civil Procedure11.
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hear. The only injury Plaintiff pleadshehassufferedas a resultof theseRICO conspiraciesare

his incarcerationon a civil contemptorderandthe SuperiorCourt’s judgmentin favor of his ex

wife for $600,000. TheotherinjuriesPlaintiffpleads,suchasthelossofhispropertyandbusiness

in Israel,aretheresultof his allegedlyillegal incarceration.

Theproblemwith Plaintiff’s secondandthird RICO claimsis thattheseclaimsfor damages

could only succeedif this Court wereto find that the statecourt’sjudgmentsweretheproductof

fraud, the denial of Plaintiff’s dueprocessrights, or both. Becausea judgmentin this Court in

favor of Plaintiff in theseclaims would impugnthe statecourt’s previousjudgments,Plaintiff’s

secondand third RICO claims andhis § 1983 claims are subjectto dismissalunderthe Rooker

Feldmandoctrine. As theThird Circuit hasexplained,

“Under the Rooker-Feidmandoctrine,a district court is precluded
from entertainingan action, that is, the federal court lacks subject
matterjurisdiction, if the relief requestedeffectivelywould reverse
a statecourt decisionor void its ruling.” Taliaferrov. Darby Twp.
ZoningRd., 458 F.3d 181, 192 (3d Cir. 2006). The SupremeCourt
hasemphasizedthat the scopeof this doctrineis narrow,andthat it
applies only to “cases brought [1] by state-court losers [2]
complaining of injuries caused by state-court judgments [3]
renderedbeforethe district court proceedingscommencedand [4]
inviting district court review and rejection of thosejudgments.”
Id. (quoting Exxon Mobil Corp. v. SaudiBasic Indus. Corp., 544
U.S. 280, 284. . . (2005)).

Purpurav. Bushkin, Gaimes,Gains,Jonas& Stream,317 F. App’x 263, 265 (3d Cir. 2009). The

Feidman-Rookerdoctrineappliesto both claimswhich wereactually litigated in the statecourts

andthose“inextricably intertwinedwith anadjudicationby a statecourt. Taliaferro,458 F.3dat

192. “[A] federalaction is inextricablyintertwinedwith a stateadjudication,andthusbarredin

federalcourtunderFeldman,[w]here federalreliefcanonly bepredicatedupona convictionthat
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the statecourt was wrong.” Id. (quotingParkviewAssoc. Phz v. City ofLebanon,225 F.3d

321, 325 (3d Cir. 2000)). Thus,wherea federalcourt is “askedto redressinjuries causedby an

unfavorablestatecourtjudgment,” the doctrine preventsthe district court from hearingthose

claims. Id.; seealsoExxon Mobil, 544 U.S. at 293.

In Purpura,the Third Circuit was facedwith a situationanalogousto that presentedby

Plaintiffs complaint: the Purpuraplaintiff broughtRICO claims againsthis former wife, her

attorney, his own attorneys, and state court judicial officers claiming that the defendants

“conspiredto use the New York divorce action as a vehicle to fraudulently obtain and enter

judgmentsagainsthim.” 317 F. App’x at 264. ThePurpuraplaintiff had“lost at everylevel of

theNew York statecourts. . . his complaint[sought] redresssolely for ‘injuries’ causedby those

statecourt judgments— i.e., the paymentsand otherpropertydistributionsthat thosejudgments

haverequiredto make,”andthe statecourtproceedingshadconcludedprior to thebringingof his

federal complaint. Id. at 266. Basedon thesefacts and the Third Circuit’s conclusionthat

“successon (theplaintiffs] claimswould entail a ruling thatthe statejudgmentshechallengesare

invalid becausethey were the productof fraud, the denial of due process,or both,” the Court

concludedthat the Purpuraplaintiffs claimswere“preciselythekind of actionthat theRooker

Feldmandoctrineis designedto preclude”andthusdismissedtheplaintiffs appealastheDistrict

Court lackedsubjectmatterjurisdiction to hearhis original case. Id.

Although Plaintiff has not expresslyrequestedthe invalidation of the state court’s

judgments,theonly RICO injuries Plaintiff haspledareeitherthedirect resultof the statecourt’s

orders— his continuedincarcerationfor civil contemptandthe$600,000judgmentagainstPlaintiff

— or the indirect resultof thoseorders— Plaintiffs loss of propertyand reputationin Israel as a
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resultof his continuedincarcerationfor six years.8 Plaintiff’s secondandthird RICO conspiracy

claimsthereforeaskthis Court to redressinjuriescausedby the statecourt’sjudgments,andthese

claims are therefore inextricably intertwined with the state court’s underlying orders and

judgmentsand are in turn subjectto the Rooker-Feldmandoctrine. Plaintiff, as in Purpura,is

askingthis Court to awardhim damagesbasedon a finding that the statecourt’sjudgmentswere

the resultof fraud or a denialof his dueprocessrights, and,asa result,his secondandthird RICO

claims arebarredand this Court lacks subjectmatterjurisdiction to hearthem. 317 F. App’x at

263-64.

C. Plaintiffs 42 U.S.C.§ 1983claims9

Otherthanhis RICO allegations,Plaintiff’s only federalclaims arethosethroughwhich

Plaintiff seeksto sueDefendantsfor violationsof his FourteenthAmendmentrights. 42 U.S.C.

8 To theextentthatPlaintiff’s damagesarisedirectly or indirectly out of his incarceration,those
damagesarethe resultof personalinjury to plaintiff ratherthaninjury to his businessor property
andwould not benot actionableunderRICO in anyevent. SeeMagnum,253 F. App’x at 227;
Evans,434F.3d at 926-27;seealsoHemi Group, LLC, 559 U.S. at 9. Thus, theonly real out of
pocketinjury Plaintiff haspled for thesecondandthird RICO conspiracieswould bethe state
court’sjudgmentof $600,000.

Plaintiff alsoattemptsto raiseclaimspursuantto Bivens v. Six UnknownFed.Narcotics
Agents,403 U.S. 388, 397 (1971). A Bivensclaim is the federalanalogueto anactionunder§
1983 andthusappliesto thosedefendantsPlaintiff allegesactedundercolor of federal,rather
thanstate,law. SeeBrown v. Philip Morris, Inc., 250 F.3d789, 800 (3d Cr. 2001) (“A Bivens
action. . . is the federalequivalentof the § 1983 causeof actionagainststateactors,[it] will lie
wherethe defendanthasviolatedtheplaintiff’s rightsundercolor of federallaw”). As the
confinesof a Bivensclaim anda similar claim broughtpursuantto § 1983 areusually
coterminous,the samelegalprinciplesapplyto bothclaimsandthe legal analysisis virtually
identical. Id. This Court thereforerefersto all of Plaintiff’s civil rights claimsas § 1983
claims,althoughBivenstechnicallyappliesto the federalDefendants.
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§ 1983 provides“private citizenswith a meansto redressviolationsof federallaw committedby

stateindividuals.” Woodyardv.Cniy. OfEssex,514F. App’x 177, 180 (3d Cir. 2013). To assert

a claim underthe statute,a plaintiff must showthathe was a deprivedof a federalconstitutional

or statutoryright by a stateactor. id. Whenevaluatingthe merits of a § 1983 claim, the Court

must identify the contoursof the underlyingright Plaintiff claims was violated and determine

whetherPlaintiffhassuccessfullyallegeda violation of thatright. Nicini v. Morra, 212 F.3d798,

806 (3d Cir. 2000).

Claimsbroughtpursuantto 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in New Jerseyare subjectto New Jersey’s

two yearpersonalinjury statuteof limitations. SeePatyrakv. Apgar, 511 F. App’x 193, 195 (3d

Cir. 2013). “Under federallaw, a causeof actionaccrues,andthestatuteof limitationsbeginsto

run whenthe plaintiff knew or shouldhaveknown of the injury uponwhich its action is based.

Kach Hose,589 F.3d626, 634 (3d Cir. 2009). “As a generalmatter,a causeof actionaccrues

at the time of the last eventnecessaryto completethe tort, usuallyat the time theplaintiff suffers

an injury.” Id. Plaintiff raisesthe following claims pursuantto § 1983: false arrestand false

imprisonment,maliciousprosecution,selectiveprosecution,abuseof process,denialof right to a

fair trial throughthefabricationofevidenceandinducementof falsetestimony/perjury,andstigma

plus defamation.

1. Plaintiffs ConspiracyAllegations

Underlyingall ofPlaintiff’s claimsfor reliefis thecontentionthatthenumerousdefendants

conspiredagainsthim. Indeed,Plaintiff evenattemptsto pleadconspiracyto violatehis rights as

a separatecount under § 1983. As Plaintiff hasnot pled that the conspiracywas motivatedby
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racial bias or the like, however,that is not a stand-aloneclaim, but rathera meansof tying all of

the Defendantsto his variouscivil rights claims. See, e.g., Epshteynv. Ct. of CommonPlease

Del. County. Pa., --- F. App’x ---, ---, 2015 WL 3895403,at *1 (June25, 2015). Becausethe

chiefactorsin Plaintiffs many§ 1983 claims areprivatecitizensandnot stateactors,Plaintiffs

ability to presenttheseclaimspursuantto § 1983 dependsentirelyuponhis ability to tie themto

thoseactingundercolor of statelaw throughhis conspiracyallegations.

To pleada conspiracyclaim under§ 1983, as with a conspiracyclaim under42 U.S.C. §

1985, a plaintiff mustestablishthat therewasa “meetingof theminds” betweenthemembersof

the conspiracy. Startzell v. City of Philadelphia,533 F.3d 183, 205 (3d Cir. 2008). Thus, a

complaintalleging conspiracymust “provide somefactual basisto supportthe existenceof the

elementsof a conspiracy:agreementand concertedaction. A conspiracy[involving a judge]

cannotbe found from allegationsofjudicial error, ex partecommunications.. . or adverserulings

absentspecific facts demonstratingan agreementto commit the alleged improper actions.”

Capogrossov. The SupremeCourt of New Jersey,588 F.3d 180, 185 (3d Cir. 2009) (quoting

Crabireev. Muchmore, 904 F.2d 1475, 1481 (10th Cir. 1990)). As a plaintiff must provide

sufficient factual supportto raisehis conspiracyclaims abovea speculativelevel to plausibility,

see Twomblv, 550 U.S. at 555, “the bareallegationof an agreementis insufficient to sustaina

conspiracyclaim.” Brown v. Deparlos,492 F. App’x 211, 215 (3d Cir. 2012). Likewise, it “is

insufficient to allegethat ‘the endresultof theparties’ independentconductcausedplaintiff harm

or eventhat allegedperpetratorsof theharmactedin consciousparallelism.” Despositov. New

Jersey,No. 14-1641,2015 WL 2131073,at *14 (D.N.J. May 5, 2015) (quotingNovellino v. NJ

Dep ‘t ofCorr. MountanviewYouth,No. 10-4542,2011WL 3418201,at *15 (D.N.J.Aug. 3,2011).
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Wherea Plaintiffmanagesto pleadstateactionthroughat leastonememberof a givenconspiracy,

private actorsmay be held liable under § 1983 for their actionswithin that conspiracywhich

violatedthe plaintiff’s rights, evenwherethe only stateactorsare immunefrom suit. Desposito,

2015 WL 2131073at *15; seealsoDennisv. Sparks,449 U.S. 24, 27-28 (1980);Kach, 589 F.3d

at 646.

Plaintiff’s conspiracyallegationssuffer from numerousflaws. Evenif oneputsasidethe

many Defendants— suchas the fictitious spousedefendants,or the jail official defendants,who

arementionedbriefly in passingbut aboutwhom few, if any, allegationsaremade,Plaintiff fails

to plead agreementand concertedaction as to most of the namedDefendants. Construing

Plaintiff’s complaintliberally as he is actingpro Se, Plaintiff has,at best,pled that the Lipsons,

Horts. Lipson’s attorneyPitman,Plaintiff’s attorneysFriedmanand Rubinstein,and, via alleged

bribes,JudgesTroianoandCasalecameto anagreementto allegedlyviolatePlaintiffs rights,and

thereafieractedin accordwith that agreementultimatelyresultingin Lipson’s $600,000judgment

and Plaintiffs continuedincarcerationfor civil contempt. As to the nearlyonehundrednamed

Defendants,Plaintiff makes various vague or conclusoryallegationsthat, becausethey took

actionshe did not like, ignoredhis letters,or becausetheymadedecisionscontraryto Plaintiffs

interestwere“enlisted” by allegedmembersof theconspiracy,joined theallegedconspiracyon a

whim andwithout reason,or cameto a “meetingof theminds” with onememberof theconspiracy

or the other.

Theseallegationsarewholly insufficient to presenta plausibleclaim for conspiracy,and

Plaintiffspleadingthat furtherfactsareentirelywithin Defendants’possessiondoesnot solvethat

problem. Plaintiff’s pleadingof conspiracyasto thoseDefendantsotherthanthefew specifically
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namedaboveprovideslittle other than unsupportedconclusions,actionswhich at best present

parallelratherthanconcertedaction,or indifferenceto Plaintiff’s accusationsandallegations. As

such,Plaintiffs conspiracyclaims againstthem are insufficient. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555; see

also Desposito,2015 WL 2131073,at * 14. As manyof theseallegedDefendantsare allegedly

only part of the conspiracybecauseof supposedlyfraudulentacts,andPlaintiff hasutterly failed

to meettheheightenedpleadingrequirementsof Rule 9 in so muchashehasfailed to pleadwith

particularitythe “who, what,when,andwheredetailsof theallegedfraud,” Plaintiffs contentions

asto theseallegedlyfraudulentdefendantssuffera furtherdeficiency. SeeDistrict 1 199PHealth

and Welfare Plan, 784 F. Supp. 2d at 527. Thus, Plaintiffs § 1983 claims mustbe dismissed

without prejudice as to all Defendantsexcept the Lipsons, the Horts, Pitman, Friedman,

Rubinstein,Troiano,andCasale.’°

AlthoughPlaintiff haspled a conspiracyagainstthesenineDefendantsandthis Court will

thereforeaddressPlaintiffs § 1983 claims as to them below, two of them must be dismissed

becausetheyareimmunefrom suit. Specifically,JudgesTroianoandCasalearesuedfor actions

° As to GovernorChristiePlaintiff adequatelypleadsthat theHortsbribedChristieto becomea
partof the conspiracy. Plaintiff however,fails to pleadany factualsupportfor thecontention
that Christieengagedin concertedaction. Plaintiff pleadsonly that Christiewas in a positionto
shutPlaintiff out of thecourt systemthroughhis influenceandsupervisoryrole overvarious
officials. Plaintiffs suggestionthatChristieactuallyhadsupervisoryauthorityoverthecourts,
asopposedto the authorityto appointjudgesthereto,doesnot appearto comportwith theroles
of the GovernorandCourtsin New Jersey. In any event,evenif Christiedid havetheauthority
Plaintiff allegeshedoes,Plaintiff hasprovidedno morethan conclusoryallegationsasto any
actions,otherthanignoringPlaintiffs bribery accusationsasto thejudgesinvolved, that could
beconsideredconcertedaction. Plaintiff hasthereforefailed to pleadthatChristieengagedin a
conspiracywith theotherDefendants. See,e.g.,Desposito,2015 WL 2131073,at * 14. That
Plaintiff hasotherwisefailed to pleadhow ChristieviolatedPlaintiffs constitutionalrights
separateandapartfrom theallegedconspiracythereforerequiresthat Christie,too, bedismissed
without prejudiceasto Plaintiffs § 1983 claims.
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they took in their official capacity,and are thereforeimmune from suit. See, e.g., Figueroav.

Blackburn,208 F.3d435,440-41 (3d Cir. 2000)(“judges.. . arenot liable to civil actionsfor their

judicial acts,evenwhensuchactsare in excessof their jurisdiction, andareallegedto havebeen

donemaliciously or corruptly”). Judges,even in casesallegingbribery or corruption,are thus

absolutely immune from civil damagesfor judicial acts unless those acts were done in the

“completeabsenceof all jurisdiction.” Id.; seealsoKarrasv. Robbins,No. 08-5264,2009 WL

2912778.at *4..6 (D.N.J. Sept.9, 2009). Here,Plaintiff complainsaboutactionstakenby Judges

TroianoandCasalein theirofficial judicial capacityin decidingPlaintiffs caseandcontinuinghis

incarcerationpursuantto a civil contemptorder. Thus,theywould beabsolutelyimmuneso long

astheydid not act in thecompleteabsenceofjurisdiction. AlthoughPlaintiff attemptsto suggest

that thesejudgesactedwithoutjurisdiction andthuswould not be immune,he specificallystates

that JudgeTroiano consideredthe service issue and concludedthat Plaintiff was subject to

“holdover” servicein the divorceaction,andthat Plaintiff wasthusproperlybeforethe Superior

Court, As such,Plaintiffhasfailed to pleadthattheSuperiorCourtactedin thecompleteabsence

of all jurisdiction,andbothjudgesareabsolutelyimmune,andmustthereforebedismissedwithout

prejudice. Becauseconspiring with an immune official can still result in § 1983 liability,

however,this doesnot disposeof Plaintiffs remainingclaims. Desposito,2015WL 2131073at

*15; seealsoDennis,449 U.S. at 27-28;Kach, 589 F.3d at 646.
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2. The United States,theStateof New Jersey,andEssexCountymustbe dismissed

Plaintiff, in additionto the conspiracyclaims,attemptsto pleadclaimsagainstthe United

Statesandthe Stateof New Jersey,as well as a municipal liability claim againstEssexCounty.

The Stateof New Jersey,however,is immunefrom suit for damagesin this Court, and is not a

“person” subjectto suit under§ 1983. See,e.g., Garciav. RichardStocktonCoil. OfNewJersey,

210 F. Supp.2d 545, 549-51 (D.N.J. 2002);seealso Grohsv. Yatauro,984 F. Supp.2d 273, 280

(D.N.J. 2013) (the EleventhAmendmentis “a jurisdictionalbarwhich deprivesfederalcourtsof

subjectmatterjurisdictionover actionsagainsta State”). The United Statesis likewise immune

from suit as it hasnot unequivocallyconsentedto suit. See, e.g., UnitedStatesv. Mitchell, 445

U.s. 535, 538 (1980);seealsoF.D.I.C. v. Meyer, 510 U.S. 471, 484-85 (1994) (Bivens doesnot

permit actionagainstthe United Statesor its agencies). The United StatesandNew Jerseymust

thereforebedismissedfrom this actionwith prejudice.

As to Plaintiff’s claim againstEssexCounty,” Plaintiff has failed to properly plead a

Monell claim for municipal liability. Municipalities and other Municipal defendantsare not

subjectto suit under§ 1983 undera vicarioustheoryof liability. SeeIqbal, 556 U.S. at 675-76;

Monell v. New York City Dep ‘t of Social Servs.,436 U.S. 658, 691 (1978). In order to sue a

“ To the extentthatPlaintiff alsoattemptedto pleada claim againsttheEssexCounty
CorrectionalFacility, thatjail facility is not a personsubjectto suit under§ 1983. Kitchen v.
EssexCnty. Corr. Facility, No. 12-2199,2012WL 1994505,at *3 (D.N.J. May 31, 2012);
Ingramv. At!. Cnly. JusticeFacility, No. 10-1375,2011 WL 65915,at *3 (D.N.J. Jan.7,2011);
seealsoMarsdenv. FederalB.O.P.,856 F. Supp.832, 836 (S.D.N.Y. 1994);Powellv. Cook
CountyJail, 814 F. Supp.757, 758 (N.D. Ill. 1993);McCoy v. ChesapeakeCorr. Cntr., 788 F.
Supp.890, 893-894(E.D. Va. 1992). Thecorrectentity subjectto suit under§ 1983 is the
county. SeeKitchen, 2012WL 1994505;Vancev. Cnty. OfSantaClara,928 F. Supp.993, 996
(N.D, Cal, 1996) (thecounty“Departmentof Correctionsis anagencyof theCounty. . . [t]he
County is a properdefendantin a § 1983 claim, an agencyof theCountyis not”).
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municipal entity underthe statute,a plaintiff mustthereforeestablishthat the municipality itself

hascommitteda violation of federal law. SeeLos AngelesCniy. v. Humphries,562 U.S. 29, 35-

36 (2010). To establishmunicipalliability under§ 1983, a plaintiff mustthereforeshowthat the

municipalityimplementeda policy, ordinance,regulation,or customwhich causedthedeprivation

of theplaintiff’s rights. Id., seealsoMonell, 436 U.S. at 690-91. Plaintiffs attemptat pleading

municipal liability is entirelybasedon a theorythat the county failed to train certainunspecified

Defendants. As the only Defendantswhich have not been dismissedare not subject to the

County’s authority or training, including the statejudges who are state officials rather than

employeesof the county, the county’s failure to train its employeescannotserveas a basisfor its

liability. As Plaintiffhasnot otherwiseproperlypledaMonell claim ashehasfailed to pleadany

policy or custominstituted by the county which deprivedhim of his rights, Plaintiffs claims

againstEssexCountymustbedismissedwithout prejudice.

3. Plaintiff’s falsearrestandimprisonmentclaimsaretime barred

Plaintiff first claims that he was falsely arrestedand imprisonedthrough the alleged

conspiracy. Claimsfor falsearrestand falseimprisonmentaccruerespectfullyat the time of the

arrest,seeBrown v. Schreck,2015 WL 4318724,at *3 (D.N.J. July 14, 2015), and at the point

wherean individual becomesheldpursuantto legal processincludingeitherthepoint wherehe is

bound over for trial or arraigned. See Wallace v. Kato, 549 U.S. 384, 389-90 (2007). Here,

Plaintiff was arrestedand arraigned in April 2009. His claims for false arrest and false

imprisonmentboth accruedapproximatelysix years before he filed suit in this matter. As

Plaintiffs complaintwasfiled morethantwo yearsaftertheaccrualof thesetwo causesof action,
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Plaintiffs claims for eachmustbedismissedas time barred. Patyrak,511 F. App’x at 195.

4. Plaintiff hasfailed to pleadclaimsfor maliciousprosecution,selectiveprosecution,and
abuseof processunder§ 1983

Plaintiff also brings claims under § 1983 for malicious prosecutionand selective

prosecution. Both of theseclaims, however, require a plaintiff to plead that he was actually

prosecutedfor a criminal offense. See, e.g., Morris v. Verniero,453 F. App’x 243, 246 (3d Cir.

2011) (selectiveprosecutionrequiresshowingthat stateprosecutorsdecidedto prosecuteplaintiff

on a discriminatorybasis);McKennav. City of Phila., 582 F.3d 447, 461 (3d Cir. 2009) (claim

under§ 1983 for maliciousprosecutionrequiresthat defendantsinitiated a criminal prosecution

without probablecause). Plaintiff wasandis incarceratedpursuantto a civil contemptorderand

hasnot beencriminally prosecuted. As such,Plaintiff hasfailed to pleada claim for which relief

maybe grantedas to bothof theseclaims.12

Plaintiff alsobringsa claim for abuseof process. As opposedto a maliciousprosecution

claim which assertsthatanactionwasimproperlybroughtfrom thestart,a § 1983 claim for abuse

of processlies wherean actionis “initiated legitimatelyandthereafteris usedfor a purposeother

than that intendedby law.” Milburn v. City of York, F. App’x —-, ---, 2015 WL 2240252,at

*3 (3d Cir. May 14,2015)(quotingRosev. Bartle,871 F.2d331,350n. 17 (3d Cir. 1989). Where

the primary motivation for an action is proper,but that action is in someway also fueledby an

“incidental motive or spite or an ulterior purpose,” there is no abuseof process. See Gen.

12 Evenif Plaintiff werenot requiredto pleada criminal prosecutionto establishmalicious
prosecution,thathehasnot receiveda favorableterminationof eithertheorderincarceratinghim
or in theunderlyingfamily partmatterwould furtherbarthatclaim. McKenna,582 at 461.
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ReJractoriesCo. v. Fireman‘s FundIns. Co.,337 F.3d297,305 n. 2 (3d Cir. 2003). Here,Plaintiff

presentshis claim in regardsto the 2009proceedingsin which Lipson soughtto recovermoneys

allegedlyowedher arisingout ofherdivorceof Plaintiff. This proceeding,asalleged,wasput to

two purposes:obtaininga judgmentagainstPlaintiff for moneydamagesowed as a resultof the

divorceandPlaintiffs continuedincarcerationundera civil contemptorderuntil suchtime ashe

eitherpaysthatjudgmentor facilitatesits payment. Thesepurposes,evenif partially soughtout

of animusor personalantagonismfor Plaintiff, are the lawful andappropriatepurposesintended

for anactionfor damagesarisingoutof a divorceandfor a civil contemptorder. As such,Plaintiff

hasfailed to pleada properclaim for abuseof process,andthat claim mustbe dismissedwithout

prejudice.

5. Plaintiff hasfailed to pleada claim for “stigmaplus” defamation

Plaintiff furtherclaimsthathewas subjectto “stigmaplus” defamationin violation of his

due processrights. To establisha causeof action for stigma-plusdefamationunder § i983, a

plaintiff mustshow that someoneactingundercolor of statelaw causedstigmaby defaminghim

throughthe makingof a public statementthat was false, andthat this defamationoccurredin the

processof the alterationor extinguishmentof a liberty or propertyinterest. SeeHill v. Borough

of Kutztown, 455 F.3d 225, 235-37 (3d Cir. 2006). Although Plaintiff attemptsto plead a

conspiracyto violate his rights generally,the only purportedlydefamatorystatementunderlying

his stigma-plusclaim are statementsmadeby his ex-wife in her court filings that Plaintiff “fled

the country” to avoidpayingmoneyhe owedhis ex-wife andchildren. (ECF No. 1 at 141, 186-

87). Thus,asto this claim, theonly DefendantPlaintiffhaspledhadanyinvolvementwasLipson,
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and the only defamatorystatementof which he complainswas madesolelyby her and was not

madein theprocessofextinguishingarecognizedliberty or propertyinterestofPlaintiff. Plaintiff

hasthus failed to pleada properclaim for stigma-plusdefamationashehasnot pled that anyone

other than Lipson, and certainly no one acting under color of state or federal law, madethe

allegedlydefamatorystatement,andhasfailed to showthat this defamatorystatementwasmade

in the processof terminatinghis rights. Id. As such,this claim mustbedismissed.

6. Plaintiff’s claimsthatfalsetestimonyandfabricatedevidencewereusedagainsthim

Plaintiff’s final § 1983 claimsariseout of his contentionsthat the lawyer defendantsused

fabricatedevidenceagainsthim in the statecourts,and claims that Lipson gavefalse testimony

againsthim, allegedlyin violation of Plaintiffs FourteenthAmendmentDue Processrights. To

the extent that Petitionerwishes to hold Defendantsliable for perjury or false testimonygiven

duringjudicial proceedings,thoseclaimsarebarredaswitnessesat suchjudicial proceedingsare

absolutelyimmunefor testimonygivenduringa trial or similarjudicial proceedings. SeeRehburg

v. Paulk,--- U.S. ---, ---, 132 S. Ct. 1497, 1505(2012)(notingthatcriminal perjurycharges,rather

thancivil liability, providesufficientdeterrentto falsetestimony,andthattestifyingwitnessesare

absolutelyimmune). To the extent that Petitionerinsteadwishes to raise a stand-aloneclaim

under § 1983 for the presentationof fabricatedevidenceto the SuperiorCourt by the lawyer

Defendants,this Court notesthat the Third Circuit hasrecognizedsucha claim in the criminal

context. SeeHalseyv. Pfeiffer, 750F.3d273,294 (3d Cir. 2014). Halseydiscussedsucha claim

specifically in regardsto the concernsandconstitutionalrights which cometo bearin a criminal

prosecution, Id. at 293-95. Indeed,the Halseycourt specificallystatedthat its holding, that a
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stand-aloneclaim could be broughtunder§ 1983 for theuseof fabricatedevidencein a criminal

trial, shouldnot beextendedbeyondthescopeof thatspecificholding. Id. at 295. This Court is

awareof no authorityextendingthatholdingor providinga similar claim under§ 1983 for theuse

of allegedlyfalse evidencein a civil matter,andPlaintiff hasnot providedany suchbasisfor his

claim. As such, Plaintiff has failed to statea claim for relief under § 1983 in relation to his

fabricatedevidenceclaim.

To the extent that Plaintiff wished to raise a state law claim arising out of the use of

allegedlyfabricatedevidence,this Courtneednot addressthat claim. As this Court shall dismiss

all of Plaintiffs federallaw claimsoverwhich this Courthasoriginal jurisdiction,this Courtneed

not, and will not exercisesupplementaljurisdiction over Plaintiffs remainingstatelaw claims.

See28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3);Hedgesv. Musco,204 F.3d 109, 123 (3d Cir. 2000). As this Court

declinesto exercisesupplementaljurisdictionoverPlaintiffs statelaw claimsasit will dismissall

claims over which it had original jurisdiction, this Court also neednot and will not address

Plaintiffs intentional infliction of emotionaldistressclaim and otherpendantstatelaw claims.

As this Court hasdismissedall claims overwhich it hadoriginal jurisdiction andhasdeclinedto

exercisesupplementaljurisdiction over Plaintiffs statelaw claims, plaintiffs complaintwill be

dismissedin its entirety.
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III. CONCLUSION

For thereasonsstatedabove,this Courtwill dismissPlaintiff’s complaintin its entiretyfor

want of subjectmatterjurisdiction and failure to statea claim for which relief may be granted.

An appropriateorderfollows.

Hon. JoseL. Linares,
United StatesDistrict Judge
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